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Plaintff, individually and on behall of all other persons similarly situated, by s

undetsighed ettomeys, tor his complaint. alieges upon personai knowledge as 1o himzelf and hisown

acts and upon information and beliet as to ull other matters, based upon the investigation made by
and through his attorneys, which invesiigstion included, among nther things, a review of analvst
reports published and disszminated to the investing public by defendant Merrill Tynch & Co.. Inc,
(“Merrill Lynch™ on GaTo.com. Inc. (“GioTo™ or the “Company™ and known us Overture Services.,
Ine, since Ocrober 18, 20013, internal cotnmunications qf Merrili l_,}rnch empivyees and recent court
filings and public statements by the New York State Attorney General attacking the independence

and accuracy of Merrill Lynch’s rescarch reports, as well as additional publicly available

infermation:
NATURE OF ACTION
1. This is a securities class action on behalf of public invesiors who purchased the

common stock ol GoTo during the peried frum Tanuary 11, 2001 throngh Ture 6, 2001 {the “Clars
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Period ™). Named as delendants are Memitl Lynch and its former Internet rescarch analyst Heney
Riodget {“Bladget™). The defendants are charged with violations of Section 10(b) of the Securilies
Exchange Acl of 1934 (*Fxchange Act™} and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, Merrill ynch
is also charged with vielations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Acl.

2. During the é]a;ss Period, defendants issued to the investing public false und
misleading research reports, ratings and statements about GoTo, a company that operates an online
marketplace that mtroduces consumers and businesses that search the Internet to advertisers who
provide products, services and mitormation.

3. As aresult of defendants’ false and mislcading statcments the market price of
GoTo common stock was artificial by inflated, maintained or stabilized during the Class Period to the
injury of plainiiff and the other Class members who purchased the stock at the time relying on the
integrity of the market price of the stock.

4. OnApril 8, 2001, New York State Attorney Genceral Lliot Spitser issued a press
relcase arncuncing that he had obtained a court order requinng Merrill Lynch (o make more
disclosures to investars about its relationship wirh investiment banking clients and provide additional
context for its stock ratings. The court action was the result of a ten-month investigation by ﬂ]n‘:
Attomey General that concluded that “the firm s supposedly independent and objective investment
advice was tainted and biased by the desire to aid Merrill Lynch’s investment banking business.”
The press releas‘e. continues: . _ .

Spitzer cites dramatic evidence that the firm’s stock ratings weic biased and

distorted in an altempt to secure amd maintain lucrative contracts for

investment banking services. As a result, the firm often disseminated

misleading information that helped irs corporate clients but harmed
individual investors.
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"This was a shocking betrayal af trust hy one of Wall Street’s most
trusted names,” Spitzer said. “"The case must be a catalyst tor reform
throughout the entire industry.”

Spitzer's olfice uncovered a major breakdown in the supposed separation
between the banking and research divisions at Mermil Lynch. In facl,
anulysts at Mervill Lynch helped recruit new investment banking clients
and were paid to do so. 'The public, however, was led ta believe that
research analysts were independent, and that the firm’s rating system would
assist them in making critical investment decisions.

As part of a quid pro gno between the firm and its investment banking,
clients, Merrifl Lynch analysts skewed stock ratings, giving favorable
coverage to preferred clients, even when those stocks were dubious
frvestients.

This problem and other condlicts of interast are revealed by internal e-mail
communications ohtained during the investigation by the Atlorney
Gieneral’s office.

These communications show aeeelpsss privazely disnaraping companies
while publicly recommending their stocks. For example. one analvst made
highly disparaging remarks about the margizzement of an internet company
and called the company’s stack “a piece of junk.” yet gave the company,
which was a major investment banking client, the firm’s highest stock
rating.

The communications show analysis complaining about pressure from
Merrili T.ynch’s investment banking division. For cxample, a senior analyst
writes: "the whole idea that we qre independent of (the) banking
{division) is a big lie.”

A scnior manager stated: "We are ofbases in how we rate stocks and how
much we bend over backwurds to accommodate banking.” But nothing
was done (o remedy this fundamental problem.

The communications show that e problems at*Merrill Lynch went fur
beyvond a single analyst or research unit. For example. the head of the
equity division wrote to analysts: “We are once again surveying your
contribution to investment banking ... please provide complete detatls on
your invelvement .. paying parlicular attention to the degree vour research
plaved 2 role in origimating ....<banking husiness.>"
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times in the Fall Srreel Journal, 66 imes in The New York Times, 53 times in The Washingiorn Post
and 27 times in Business Week. Blodget also appeared numerous times an {inanciul news television
programs. According to the April 3, 2000 edition of Business Week, 13odget appearad or was
mentioncd 211 times [rom January 1, {999 to March 21, 2000 on ABC News, NIB3C News, CNBC,

CNN. CNNin, and Mightly Business Report,

7. Blodger’s ability to significantly affect the prices of Internet stocks, including

Go'l'o, way widely recognized in the financial press. For example, as the March 18, 2000 issue of

the Nationad Postreported, “When Henry Blodget speaks, people listen....” (Boldlace added) The
Augusl 19, 1999 issue of The New York Tines noted that “a recommendation of eight Internct stock s
by Merritl Bynch's influential smalyst, Henry Blodget, helped keep the Nasdag average in positive
territory..,.” That samzg say the Hall Sireer Jowrmd commented that “efectronic-commerce stocks
cot a sudden boost yesterday atter Mermill Lynch analvst Henry Blodget told clients in a conference

call that he believed sentiment is turning back toward these issues.,..”

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. Theclaims asserted below arise wirder §§10(b} and 20{n) of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. §§78j(by and 78t{a), and Rule 10h-5 protuulgated thereunder by the Securities and Exchange
Commission ("SEC™, 17 C F.R. §244.10%-5.

9. Jurisdiction ts conforred izpen this Court by §27 of the Ixchange Act, 15 U S.C.
§78ua und, 28 U.S.C. §§15331 and 1337, )

10, Venue is proper in this District pursuant to §27 of the Exchange Actand 28 U.S.C.

§1391(h} since Merrill Lynch bas its principal place of business in this District, and many of the acts




alleged herein, including the dissemination ol the misleading statements o the investing public,
occurred in substantial part in this Distoics.

1. Incounection with ine acis, condust and other wrongs alleged hercin, defendants,
directly and indircctly, vsed the means and instrumentalities of interstate commeree, including the
United Stares mails, intersiate tzlephonic communications and the facilities of the national securities

exchanges.

THE PARTIES

Plainiff

12, PlaintfT Victor Parker, as Trustec ol Joseph P, Pajewski Living Trust Dated
1172697, purchased shares of GoTo common stock during the Class Pertod as set forth in the
accompanving certification and has been damaged as a result of defendants® misconduc( as described
herein.
Defendants

3. Defendant Merrill Lynch is the largest securities broker in the United States. It

describes itsell as onc of the world’s ieading financial management and advisory companies with

offices in 38 countries and approximately 515 trilltonin client assets. Merrill Lyneh also touts itself

corporalions, institutions and individuals worldwide. Merrill Lynch’s corporate headquarters are
focated in New York City. . '
14.  Defendant Blodget was, until his .depaﬁur:: from Mermil! Tynch in or about

Novemther 2001, a managing director and head of the Internet research group in New York City. As

~ described herein, detendant Blodget was regarded throughout the Class Period as the most influential

¢




Intenet anafyst in the world. His ability to move stock prices was widely recognized and reported
in the media.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

¥

Platntiff brings this action as a class action pursuant o Federal Ruie of Civil
Procedure 23{a) and {b)(3} on behalf of all persons who purchased shares of GaToe common stock
during the period from January 11, 2001 througls June 6, 2001, both dates inclusive (the “Class™).
Excluded from the Class are defendants; members of the individual defendant’s immediate family;
officers, directors, subsidiaries or affiliates of Merrill Lynch; any entity in which any excluded
person has a controlling intorest; and legal representatives, heirs, successors or ussigns of any of the
foregoing,

16, The members of the Class are o numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable. While the exact number ai'CIéss- melnbers is unicnown to plaintiff at this time and
can only he ascertained through appropriate dismnﬁry, plaintiff believes therc are, at 4 minimum,
thousands of members of the Class who purchased Gol'o cammon stock during the Class Perijod.

7. Common questions of taw and fact exist as to all members of the Class and
predominate over any questions affecling solely individual members of the Class. Among the
questions of law and fact common to the Class are:

. whether defendants engaged in acts or conduet in violation of the federal

securities laws as a#lleged herein;

. whether defendants participated in and pursued the common course of
conduct complained of herein;

. whether defendanis issued [alsc and misleading statements during the Class
Peniod;

)

g




. whether the market prices of GoTo commeon stock during the Class Period
was artificially inflated because of the defendants’ conduct complained of
herein; und

. whether the members of the Class have suslained damages and. il so, what
is the proper measure of damages.

I8, PlainGiff s claims are typical of the claims of the members ol the Class, as plaintiff
and members of the Class sustained damages arising out of defendants’ wrongful conduct in
violation of federal law as complained of herein,

19.  Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class
and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securitics [tigation. Plaintifthas
no interesls antagonistic ro or in conflict with those of the (lass.

20. A class action i superior to other avatlable methods for the fair and efficient

adjudication of this controversy because joinder of ail micmbers of the Class is impracticable.
FFurthermore, because the damages suftered by individual Class members may be relatively small,
the expense and burden of individual litigation make it impossikle for the Class members
individually to redress the wrongs dene to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of
this action as a class action,

21, Plamtift will rely, in part, upon the presumption of reliance established by the

fraud-on-the-market doetrineg in that:

. defendants made pubiic misrepresentations or [diled to disclose material
facts during the C l.ass Period; .
» the omissions and misTepresentations were mulerial;
. the COMHTION stock of GoTo traded on the Nasdag, an efficient marker;
- the markel reactad to public information disseminated by defendants:
8
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. the misrcpresentations and omissions alleged would tend to induce a
reasonabie mvesior W misindge the value of the Company's sceuritics: and

. plaintiff and the members of the Class purchased their GoTo stock between
the time the defendants failed to disclose or misrepresented material facts
and the time the true tacts were disclosed, without knowledge of the omitled
or misrepresented facts.

22, ased upon the foregoing, piaintil and the members of the Class are entiiled to

a prexsumption of reliance upon the integrity of the market,

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

Summary of Egregious Practices

23.  Since 1999, Merrill Lynch Internet research analvsts have published on a regular
basis ratings and 1ssued reports for Intoreet stocks that were materially misleading. Rather than
being ndependent and accurate assessments, such ratings and reports were biased and improperly
influenced by Merrill Lynely's investment bunking relationships with the covered companies and hy
the fact that research analysts” commpensation was fied, in patt, to investment banking work. Indeed.
the research analysts freguently acted us quasi-investment bankers, including pitching the client,
marketing the offering and initiating and downg “follow-on™ rescarch coverage. Merrili Lynch's
Interner rescarch analysts, including the individual defendant herein, were privately disparaging
vompanigs on which they were publicly maiintaining favorable reports and ratings.

24, That Merrill Lynch’s rescarchand ratings were diclated by its invesiment banking
business is tllustrated by a Bladget March 21, 1999 memorandum titled “Manuging the Ranking
Calendar for Internet Research,” which wn.s: distributed to ¢ -:@I leads of TLS, Byuity Research and

other senior Merrill Lynch bankers. Blodget communicated his expectation that a minimurmn of 30%

9
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of his and his staff™s tinte be commitled to investment banking malters and described his work
schedule for one week as Eeing divided “85% banking, 1 5% rescarch.”

25, A November 16, 2000 e-mail from analyst Kirsten Campbell 1o Blodget bluntly
stated: “the whole idea that we arc independent from banking is a big lie....” Tn fact, Mern]l Lynch
research management intt:-maﬂy acknowlcdged that “we are off base on how we rate stocks and how
much we bend backwards to acconunodate banking. ete.”™ Another Merrill T.ynch Internet analyst
candidly admitied ina March 21. 2001 e-muil to another colleague that “[wled win brownie points”
if Merrill Lynch investment bankers could “deliver{]” coverage to an issuer. Similarly, in an
October -, 2000 email to Blodget, o Merrfl Eynch analyvst conceded: “part of the reason we dide’t
highlight [u risk] is {because] we wanted to protect icg’s banking business.”

26.  InancilTort to appease ctionts und Mernll Lyach investment bankers. the Internai
research group ignered the bottom two categories {Creduce” and “self™ o Merridl Fynoh's five-point
rating syslem and used only the highest three ratings (."‘buy._” “accumulate” and “acutral™). thereby
converling a published, purportedly objective live-pointrating scale into a biased, undisclosed thrae-
point system. From the spring of 1999 to the fafl of 2001, Merrill Lynch never published a single
reduce or sell rating on any stock covered by the Intemet graup,

27, Morrill Lyneh was successful in getting Blodget and ts Internet analysts to issuc
biased and favorable ratings and reports, which were contrary to their objective assessments, by
linking their compensation, at least in part, iv the firm’s mvestient banking business. For example,
an October 13, 2000 memorandum from Deepak Raj, then co-head of global equity research at

Merrill Lynch, distributed the following requests to all equity analysts:




We are once again surveying vour coniributions to investment bankirg

during the vear...Please provide complete details on your involverment in the

transaction, paving particalar attention the degree that your rescarch

coverage played a role inorigination. exccwtion and follow-up. Please note,

as well your involvement in advisory work or merger acquisitions.

cspeceially where your coverage played a role in securing the assignment

and your follow-up marketing to clients, Please indicate where your

rescarch was pivetal in securing participation in high vield offering.
{Boldface added)

2%, ImaNoveraber 2, 2000 memorandum titled “IBK Contributions: Internal Team.”
Blodget and the Internet research group responded. stating thot ibe group participated in over fifty
successful or patential investment banking transactions resulting in $115 mitlion for Merrill Lynch
and detailed the investment banking services rendered by the analvsts, including initiation and
follow-on research coverage.  Shortly thercafter, Blodget received a hefty increase in his
compensation. Ilis annual compensation went from $3 million for 1999 to $12 million for 2001,

29.  These egregious practices and policies are detatled in internal Merrill [ynch
documen!s releasced by the Ctfice of the Aftorney General of the State of hew York on April 8. 2002,
Indeed, the Atterney CGeneral, based on the resulis of a ten-month investigation, obtained an Order
from the Supreme Courl of the State of New York requiring Mermilt Lynch to make additicnal
dizclosures about it investment hanking reiotionships with companies covered in itz research
reports, On May 8, 2002, the Wall Strect Journal reported that Merrill Lynch und Eliot Spitzer had
arrived at a “framework” for a possible deal. That same day Bloomberg reported that Spitzer said
he may not seek restitution from McEill Lynch: “It’s my view that restitution would be most

successfully accomplished through either arbitration or class action lawsuits filed by private

attorneys.”

11
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0. On April 23, 2002, the board of directors for the North American Securities
Administratars Association. which represents the securities regulators of ali 50 U8, states, the
District of Columbia and Puerte Ryco, issued a press release stating that they had:

[V]oted to form a multi-state tack force that will focns on the issues raised

by New York Attorney General Eliol Spitzer in investigating underwriting

and analysts” research tssues and possible securities law violations by Wall

Strect firms. The task foree will be cochaired by California, New Jersey

and New York, The investigation will center on practices that adversely

affected thousands of Main Street investors nationwide.

31.  That same day the 1LS. Justice Department announced that it plans lo examine
allegations that securitics analysts have misled the public. “It’s something we need to teke a closer
ook at,” Bryvan Sierra, a spokesman for the Justice Department’s criminal diviston, said, “Financial
reporiing, including the work of financial analysts, is on the radar sereen.”

320 On Apnl 25, 2602, the SEC announced thal it has commenced a formal inguiry
into the contlicts o inferest stemming from the relattonship between analvet resesrch and invesiment
banking. The SFC will conduct the inquiry jointly with the New York Stock Exchange. the National
Assoctation of Securtties Dealers, New York Attorney General Elict Spitzer, the North American

Securitics Administrators Associatnon and the siates,

Defendants’ Motive to Issue Misleading Repaorts on GoTo

33, DBeforc 1999, Mernill I.ynch had been unsuccesstul in securing a large share ot'the
highly profitable business of underwriting initisl public offerings of hot technology compuntes. But
this changed in 1999 with its hiring of Blodget. As reported in the December 27, 1999 issue of The

New York Times, *According to Thomson I'inancial/Securitics Data, Merrill ranked fourth in taking

new technology companies public in 1999, as measured by the amount of money raised. That is a
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far cry Irom 1997, when it did not even runk among the top 20 Tie New York Times furlther
observed that “Mcrrll may now be trying to cultivate a rising star. Tn February, ithired a 33 year-old
CIBC Oppenheimer analyst. Henry Blodget....” Merrill Lyuch’s success was in large part due to
Blodget's and other analysts vse of tesearch reports as marketing tools, with coverage and rating
dictared by Merrill Lynch's investrnent banking business.

34, This is lelliingly revealed in an April 26, 2600 ¢-mail by a Mermrill Lynch invest-
ment banker to an analyst ubout attracting business away [fom a competitor:  “we should
aggrressively link coverage with banking —that is what we did with Go2Net (Henry [Blodget] was
involved}.. [1j[ you are very bullizh (b/e they will love you), they are not happy with GS [Goldman
Sachs] and are going Lo be active, we can probably get by on 2 ‘handshake,”™

35, hran atlempt to secure lucrative banking husiness {rom the GoTo. dcfeﬁdmlts
issued materially misicading reports on the Company throughount the Class Pertod. Blodget was also
motivated to 1esue such reports hecause his compensation was linked, in substantial part, to his
contrthutions to Merrill Lynch’s investment banking business.

36, Belorethe Class Period, Merrill Lynch had sought but failed to obtain inyestment
banking husiness from GoTe In connection witk the Company's Tune 1999 initial public olfering of
7.5 million shares at $16.50 per share,

37, Byluly 2000, Merrill Lynchagain sought investment banking business from GoTo
in connection with a private placement offering fo_r_a Europdan subsidiary of Go’l'o.. Merrill Lynch
heavily promoted ifs research anaiys#? a.; ,,Lmnlﬂs p{tcn s coimiritied to GoTo that Blodget would

inifiate research coverage of the Company.

o

GRS tren L el e

ST .



38, Incarly Septewber 2000, Merriil Lyneh received the assigment from Go'le for
the private placement, with the fee mostly confitgent on closing the placement. Shortly therez_if'{cr.
Merrill Eynch internet research analyst Kristen (Iampbéll (*“Campbell”}, who reported to Blodget,
hepan drafting a research report for initiation of coverage.

Defendants’ False and/or Misleading Statements and Qmissions

39, OnJannary 11, 200], defendants issued a research report initiating cdxmmge on
GoTo with aNeutral Buy (3-1) rating and projected profitahility in 2002, The report also highlighted
Gio I'o"s “pay-lor-perlormiance model, which shotfld help i gain share in the current environment,”
while GoTo's “closest competites™ Looksmért “remnins exposed to -pay for mmpression’
advertising.”

40.  As noted, defendants’ initiation of coverage uvn GoTo was dictated by Merrill
Lynch's mrerests in obtaining investiment hanking business from this Company and was entirely
hiased.

41, Af the wging of defendants, Merrill Tyich analyst Campbell sent drafts of the
inttiating report 1 Go'lo Tor ity approval in Sepientber and November 2000 and received comments
(rom GoTo’s managemaent.

42, In December 2000, Campbell e-mailed a new financial model ta Gola's
managementi, stating: “I thought yonu shouid know we are cutting revenue a {ot. and it drustically
changﬁ your profitability horizon-—pushes it ouf to 1Q 2003

43, Russell Renarova. GoTo’s head of corporate development, angrily reacted:

“Breakeven in 20037 Based on these numbers, why would [Merriil Lynch] even want to indtiale on

]
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us. Todd [Tappin, GoTao CHGJ should call back and pose the questicns. This is ridiculous and
totally frustrating. Memill will pever take my compauy public.”

44, According to the alfidavit filed by the New York Staie Attormney General, “Go Ta
called Campbell and got 1ts way: the final published initiation rescarch report had profitahility
occurring sometime in 2002 rather than m the first quarter of 2002,

45.  Furthermore, defendants issued thie 3-1 {short term Newtral and lone icrm Buy)

[
Tt

rafing to please GoTo and Merrill Lynch’s investinen( bankers, despite internal acknowledgment that
only a 3-2(Neutral/ Accumulate) rating was warranted at best,

46.  TnaNovember 16, 2000 e-mail to Blodget, Campbell described the pressure she
felt to appease GoTo by issuing a 2-2 (Accumulate/Accumulate) ratimg and acknowledged the
tremendaus financial loss to investors that would be caused by her false and misleading reports:

who are we brying to piease by doing a 2-27 I don’t want to be a whore for

{eving [manaezement]. if 2-2 means thal we are puiting half of merril! retail

into this stock because ihay aig gut accomulating it then [ don’t think thal's

the right thing o do. we are losing people money and T don’t like it. john

and mary smith arc losing their retirement because we don’t want todd

[Tappin, GoTo CFO] to be mad at us.

47 Inthe Navember 16, 2000 c-mail described above, Camphell also noled Merrill
[ ynch’s lailure (o separate research from invesiment banking and the consequent improper iniluence

of hanking over research:

...the whole idea that we are independent. from banking is a big lie - withoul
banking this would bea 32, - )

4%, According to ihe atfiduvit filed by the New York State Avorney General:
[n his sworn testimony, Rlodget conceded that the Merril Lynch investment

bunkers had veto power over his initiating coverage of GoTo with a 3
rating. Although apparently apreeing to the neutral intermediale rating,

15
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investment banking prevailed in that the rating would be a 3-1 (neutral-buy }

and not the 3-2 (peutral-accumulate) that Campbell said would be
appropriate but for invesiment banking's pressure.

49, Defendants made the 3-1 rating palatable to Go'l'o only by downgrading the rating
of its compelitor Locksmart, Ltd ("LOOK™) to a 3-1 from a 2-[{ Accumulate/Buy). According to a
November 21, 2000 c-mail by Camphell to Blodget:

goto has gotten back to me and says they are “comfortable™ with the

discussions we’ve had with them, and with coming out at « 3-1 ef¢. given

that we would be downgrading LOOY at the time so the rutings arc the

same etc. talked to justin [Baldawf, the Merrill Lynch analyst covering,

LOOK] and he doesn’t know if it is a good idea to downgrade LOOK - no

reascn 1o do now versus before. .,

50.  On December 14, 20010, Blodget informed Baldauf by cematl of hiz intention to
initiate coverage on GoTo with a 3-1 rating and simulaneonsly downgrade LOOK 1o 3-1. tle
reconfirmed this in a December 19, 2000 e-mail to Buldisuf and Campbell:

Here's the GOT0 notz.

Justin {Baldauf}, We're planning to ret! on this thing on Thursday at 3-1.
I'd fike to lake the LOOK ratingio 3=1 at the same time, just 30 we can keep

them together, Probabiy cafizstif we just ent the numbers a bit again to be

51, Before defendants” initiated coverage, GoTo stock dropped below $10, and
therealier, on January 4. 2001, Campbell e-mailed two Merrill Lynch investment bankers, Thomas
Maz ucco and Andrew Sicgel, siating that research management wanled (o initiate coverage with
a 1-2. Campbell was also candid about er own opinion: “personally I din't [sic] think it deserves

.
a3-1" ‘

52, Siegel made investment banking’s views very clear in his immediate e-mail

response to Blodget and Campbell:

16




Pleasc listen to miy [voice maiij irem this moming, Brielly, in taiking Lo
Ray Ahbott vesterday, 1 thought the strafcgy was to gu out wilh the 3-1 a3
soon a5 the stock hit $10; it it deesn’(, I don’t think anylody has an intercsi
in seeing inftiabon at a 3-2.

A
LS}

When GoTo stock did not reach $18 on JTanuary 3, 2001, Mazzuceo asked another
Merrill Lynch analyst if she would arrange for GeTo to promote itself at an upcoming conference
for institutional investors, stating: “We have developed an active banking agenda with {GoTo] and
ncedless to say, they are frustrated wi_lh the rescarch tie up. If it’s convenient, it would be helpful
to us.”

54 Ihe stock tradid intra-day at $10 on Junuary 10, 2001, and the very next day
defendants inifiated coverage at 3-1, the very rating that GoTo and Memill Lyncl’s investment
hunkers had dcmﬁndcd, Also, on January |1, 2001, defendants delivered on another promise to

GaTo with Blodget and Baldaul downgrading LOOK to 3-1 from 2-1.

L)
LA

While initiating coverage- with an atfractive rating, delendants privawely were
expressing, their true assessments about GoTo. For example, the very day of the inftiation, Blodget

admitted m an e-mail that there was “nothing” interesting about GoTo except banking fees,

6. Defendants continoed to 1ssue misleading research reporrs and ratings on GoTo

through out the Class Period.
37 On January 30, 2001, Blodget issucd a report catitled, “Imternst Not a

Iallucination - Review of ur current thinking on the Internet sector and a few of'the survivors....”

which reiterated GoTa's Neutral/Buy (3-1) rating and stated:

Main message: Internet not a hallucination. Believe online adwvertising
works, c-commerce works -~ just going through ugly transition period.
Believe a few stocks will rise from the wreckage und be good investments
fur mext 3 - 5 vears. Believe we have alrcady passed the bottom.

17
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Belicve advertising and e-commerce fundamentals will remain weak for at
least two quarters but that at leading companies this is already in the models
and the stocks. DBelieve that the news [low for the balance of the year will
be incrementally positive. We would therclore look to build positions now.

58.  On Febroury 14, 2001, Blodgel and Camphell issued a report reviewing Golo's
4Q 2001 results and repeating the Neutral/Buy (3-1) rating. The report stated:

Goto reported a great 4Q, with strong revenue (+59% seq), wraffic (+102%
seq), and paid introductions (+100% seq). Mgt. pravided much more
expense detail, which gives us more confidence that the long-term maodel
15 intact.

The pay-per-performance model is_c,earl;v" enabling the company to gain

share in & tough environment. Revenuc per ohizk was down 20%, but we
helieve this was the resuihi of strong traffic, not a deteriorating busincss
model.

ZB0NE revenue gocs i §220mm from F181Tmm, and 2002F (o 5333mm
from $280mm. 2001E EPS loss goes to d$0.75 from d$0.79. Maintain
2002 EPS est. of $0.17 (tax effected).

Grade for Quarter: A-.

59.  On February 15 and 28, 2001, defendant Blodget iSS;.lCd Online Advertising
bulletins that highlighted GoTo’s pay-for-performance mindel and reconfirmed the Neutrab/Buy (3-1)
raring.

60.  On March 9. 2001, detendant Bloedget issued a bulletin noting GoTo CEQ Ted

Meiscl’s presentation ot the Merrill Lynch Internet Conference the previous day and holding




steadfast (0 the Neutral/Buy (3- 1) raling, The bulletin also noted that “GoTo's pav-lor-performance

model seems to be gaining share....”

61.  OnMarch 22, 2001, Blodget and Camphell tssued a report regarding GoTo’s 10

2001 puidance and maintained the Neutral/Buy (3-1) raing. The report stated:

Outlouk on Internet stocks. The reports highlighted GoTo’s pay-for-performance mode! and left

unchange

resuits and upgrading the Company from Nentral/Buy (3-1) to Accumulate/Tuy (2-1}. The reporl

stared:

Cinlo announced today that it would excoed 1Q extimates of $45mm in
revenues and $16mm of adjusted net loss. Howcver, (he company did not
indicale to what degree. At this time we are nol raising estimates, though
we view this positive alfirmation of what the company said at cur Internet
conference two weeks ago.

...We continue 1o rate GoTo a Neutral, given the lack of vistbility into 2(:02
(we belicve LPS could ultimately be as {ow as $0.05 or as high as $0.40),
However, we are warming up to the steck as GoTo is one of the few
companics continuing io report positive fundamental trends as i hencfits
from the secular mowve 1o pay-for-performance online advertising.

62, On April 4 and 16, 2001, defendant Blodyet issued a (31 Earnings apd Preview

d the Neutral/Buy (3-1} rating.

63, On Aprii 25,2001, detendant Blodpet issued a report reviewing GoTo's 1Q 2001

Onece again execuling extremely well in a tough environment, GoTo
reported a very strong 1Q. We're faising out intermediatc-term rating from
Neutral to Accumulate and setting an'$18-$19 price objective,

PR

The pay-per-perfurmance model is clearly enabling the company to gain
shure in a tough environment,” B&veénus per ctick at $0.16 was down a

¥
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penny from 4G as expeeted, but trended hack up in Tate 19 and so far this
quarter, which 13 encouraging.

Crade for Qoarter: A

64.  On May 15, 2001, defendant Blodget issued an Internet Advertising report
dexcribing GoTo as onc of “two bright spots” in ihe market and reiterating an Accumulate/Buy (2-1)
rating.

65, That same day the Internet/c-Commerce Global team, including defendant Blodget,
jssued areporl entitled “Surfing Times 20017 The roport “expanded the comparable universe of the
leading Global Internet stocks from twelve to fourteen” to include GoTo following the Company s
uypgrade and its rise in market value to about §1 billion. ‘The report alse repeated the
Accumulate/Buy (2-1) rating.

66, On May 10 and 17, 2001, Blodeet and Merrill Iynch investmen! bankers
sponsored an investor road show for GoTe's CEO and CFO, after which Go'l'a’s stack rose 20%.

67.  On May 22, 2001, deterndant Blodget issued a report entitled *And the Survey
Says...0nline Advertising To Increasc As a Percentage of Advertising Budgets.” 'The report
recommended GoTo und reiterated zn z\ccutﬁuiatefBlly {2-1) rating.

58, On June 6. 2001, defendant Blodpet downgraded the Companv from
Accumulate/Buy (2-1} fo Neutral/Buy (3-1) to punish Gol'o when hg learned that GoTo had choscr
another bank to underwrite an equity nff:,n*ngfhat {Iefﬁ‘llﬁdllh had been pursuing for a while. The
report claimed, “GoTo has more t-han dou.bl::;.d'?in éﬁproximatc]y the last month or so. We are

downgrading our infermediate term rating from Accumulate to Neutral due to valuation.” However,

20



on hune 6. 2001 Golo opened ot 524,42 a share, close to the opening price of $23.60 on May 22,
2001, when Blodget robustly recommended Gol'o with 2 2-1 eating and ai which time the 1240 18
month price target range was $18 to $19 per share.

69.  The real reason [or the downgrade was revealed in an e-mail exchange between
Blodyet and senior analyst Edward McCabe who reported o Blodget. When defendants {carned on
May 25, 2001 that Gio To was leaning towards using another bank to fead an equity offering, McCabe
deafted a downyrade and e~-mailed il to Blodget:

H,

I dor’t think I've downpraded a stock on valuation since the mid-90s.

Anvway, ] threw together these bullets inanote on my hard drive so that we

are ready fo pull the trigger quickly. Do you think we need more than

bullets? 1 didn’t think so since this downgrade would be based solely on

valuarion? | et me koow.

Thanks

Ed

70, BlodeeU s immuedimic rasponas was:

peaubiful
fuk em

71, Defendants. however, held the downgrade in reserve as they continued 1o [obby
to lead the equity offering. On the '{;‘;i";miﬁg__g;_{ June &, 2001, defendants learned that (}(}T.n had
chosen CSI'B to lead the underwritng. By mid-moming, defendants issued the downyrade o the
pubiic in substanhially the same formn as drafted in May 25, 2001,

72, Insum. defendants’ stATements; reports and ratings about GoTo were materially
false and misleading because of their failure to disclose that: defendants® coverage and ratings of
Guloissued during the Class Yertod were not independent and objective, but instead were biased

and a marketing teol in Merritt Lynch's attempt 1o secure mvestment banking business from this
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company ang for Blodget to thereby increase his compensation; 1t was Neirill Lynch’s policy and
praciice (o tssue only ity highest three ratings (buy, accumulate and neutral) on Intetnel companies,
including GoTo. and not to use its two lowest ralings (reduce and sell), thereby rendering its

published five-point rating system a sham; and defendanis” true adverse assessments about GoTo.

73, Defendants successlully concealed from the investing public that they had an

internal rating system which was complietely at odds with their public ratings on Internet companies,
meiuding GoTo. OnOctober 10, 2000, Merril! Lynch analyst Eve Glatl e-mailed defendant Blodget
a news article about software glitches at another Interncl company, 24/7 Real Media Inc., which
defendants were then pubiicly fouting. In her c-mail, Glatt comments that the article “probably
conlirms what vou and Virg[inia Syer] have talked about for some time. " Blodget responded, “that
it’s a pos? pes.” (Boldface and italics added) Later in this c-mail exchange, Blodget provides a

“cheal sheol™ T'or lns abbreviations:

lol = laeghing out lowd

ot = greal

pos = piece of sh|--}

nfw =

pls = puhleeecesz

imho —  in my humble¢ opnion

74, Indeed, before initrating coverage on GoTo, in a December 2000 e-mail, Blodeet
had internally admitted the need to “Just start calling the stocks . . . like we see them, no matier what
the ancillary business consequences are.” Despite this recognition, defendants failed 10 call GoTo

stock or any other [nternct stock as they saw them.
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Defendants’ False and Misleading Statements Artificially Inflated
Maintained or Stabilized the Market Price of GoTo Stock

73, Defendants” materially false.and misleading statements artificially inflated,

maintained or stabilized the price of GoTw common stock throughout the Class Period and injured

o

plamt[f and the ather Class members who purchased the slock at such artificial prices. As already
detailed, defendants’ rutings and reports on the Company and other Internet stocks had tremendous
market impact. When they spoke, the market listened, During the Class Period, GoTo stock traded
as high as S78.28 on June S, 2001, the dav hefore defendants downgraded GoTo stock. After the
lune 6. 2001 downgrade, the stock closed at $23.78 and on June 27, 2001, fell further, closing at

$16.706.

Revelations of Defendants’ Misconduct

76, Defendants’ misconduct began to be revealed with the Apnl 8, 2002 filing of an
affidavit by Eric R. Dinallo. Thiel of the Investment Protection Bureau of the New Yerk State
Department of Law and of counse! to the Now York State Attorney General, in New York Supreme
Court in connection with proceedings broueht against Mertill Lynch and cortain of its o {Tie tals under
Article 23-A of the General Business Law, Based on that aftidavit and exhibits, the Supreme Court
1ssued an order preliminarily enfoning Mermill Lynch from issuing any rating or analysts report
nnless additonal disclosures were made therein about s past, current und fyrire Investment banking
relationships with the rated company and more conlext was provided for its stock ratings.

Tmplementation of the Order was stuved until April 19, 2002,

77, The New York State Attorncy General also unmounced that he was exploring the

possibility of criminal charges ayainst the delendants and restitution.
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78 OnApril 18,2002 Merril Lynch and the Attorney General reached a preliminary
interim setilement, pursuant to which Merrill Lynch agreed to make cettain disclosures in its reports
about its existing and future investment banking relationships with issuers covered by its ratings or
reports, including compensation received from corporale clients in the past 12 months and a
prominently placed scknowledgment that investors should assume thal Merril! “is secking, or will
seek investment banking and other business front the covered company,”

79, As the Auorney General smt;c:c}'- on April 18, “The[] disclosures are necessary (o
inform consumers and investors of the inherent contlict of interest at Merrill Lynch.” He cautioned,
}u‘_m\yeﬂ'er, that *“|a |Ithough we are still negoliali?g,serious issues remainto be reselved before we can
reach a final agreement.” He insisted #fat any sp}_f:h agreement must temedy “fundamental structural
flaws” in Merrill’s busrness and provide “permanent relicf for the company’s state securitics laws
viclations.”

80.  The Attorney General has now reporiedly reached a “framework™ for a broad
settflement with Merrill Lynch and, as reported on May 8, 2002 by Bloomberg, may no longer be
secking restitution because “restitution would be most successfully accamplished through either
arbitration or class action lawsuits led by private attorneys.”

81, The papers fited by the Attorney General's OfTice demonstrate thar the defendants
not only recommended the stock of GoTo despile serious private reservations but that such conduct
was systemic and affected defendants’ coverage of numerotis other Internet stocks, For example,
defendants rated Internet Capital Group. Tne. stock an Accumulate/Buy while internally labeling
a “disaster”; touted Lifeminders as an Accumulate/Buy. but privately deseribed the company as o

“POST or piece olsh] -] internally recognived that Acther Systems, Inc. had “horrible™ fundamentals
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hut neverthieless rated the stock a Newtral/ Accumulate; and privately called Excitei@Home “neutral,”
“flal,” devoid of any “real catalysts™ for improvement and “such a piece of crap,” while raling the
company an Accumilate/Buy.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

COUNT 1

{Against Al Defendants For Violations
of Section 10(b) and Rule 10h-3)

82.  PlaintifTrepeats and realleges cach and every allegation contained above as il fully
set forth herein.

83.  Eachofthe defendamis: (a) knew or recklessly disregarded material adverse non-
public information about the Company which was not disclosed; and (7 drafted. reviewed and/or
approved the misleading statements about Go'lo.

84, Duming the Class Perlod, defendants, with knewledge of or reckless disregard for
the truth, disseminated or approved the false statements specificd above, which were misleading in
thul they contained misrepresentations and failed (o disclose material facts necessary in order to
ke the statements made, in Eght of the circumstances under which they were made, not

misleading.

(]
A

Defendants have violated §10{b) of'the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 in that they:
{4) employed devices, schomes and artifices W defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material facts
or omitted o stale material Tacts necessarv in order to make statements made, n light of the

circumatances mnder which they were made, not mitsleading; or (¢} engaged in acts, practices and a



course of business that aperated as a fraud or deceit upen the purchasers of GoTo stock during the
Class Peniod.

§6.  Plaintift and the Class have suffered damage in that, in rcliance on the integrity
ol the market price, they paid prices for GoTo stock that were artifictally inflated. maintainad or
srabili;ed as a resuht of defendanis® misleading statements, Plaintiff and the Class would not have
purchased the Company stock at the prices they paid, or at all, if they had been aware that the market
prices had been artificially und falsely inflated by defendants’ false and misleading statements.

COUNTIX

(Violations of Section 20{a) of
The ixchange Act Against Defendant Mereil {.ynch)

87.  Plaimtilfrepeats and reaiteges each and every allegation contained above as it fully
set [orth herein,

88,  Defendant Merrill Lynch acted as a contrelling person of Blodget witlin the
meaning of Scction 20{a) of the Lixchange Act.

89. By reason of such wrongiud conduct, Defendant Merrill Lyvnch is iiahle pursuant
to §20(a) of the Exchange Acl. As a direct an& proximale result of this delendant’s wrongful
conduct, plaintiff and the other members of the Class sullered damages in connection with thetr
purchases ofCompa.n}‘ stock during the Class Period, as already detailed.

WHERETORE, piainiitt prays for relief and judgment, as follows:

{1y Determining that this uction is a proper (:]a.ss action, designating plaintiffas Lead
Plaintiff and plaintiff’s counsel as Lead Counsel, and certifying plaintiff as a cluss representative

under Bule 23 of the Yederal Rules of Civil Procedure;

s
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{2y Awarding compensatory darmages in favor of plaintitfand the other Class members
against all defendants, jointly snd severally, for all damages sustained as a result of defendants’
wrongdoing, in an amount 10 be proven at trial, including interest thereon:

{3} Awarding plaintff and the Class thetr reasonable costs and expenscs incurred in
this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; und

-

(4} Such other and further relicf as the Court may deem just and proper.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff hereby demands a irial hy jury.
DATED:  May 20, 2002
POMERANTZ HAUDFK BLOCK
GROSSMAN & GROSS LLP

iy . / 2

By-

Shaheen Rushd (SR-4236)
Pani T. Curlev (PC-8787)

100 Park Avenue. 26th Floor
New York. New York 10017
Telephone: {(212) 661-1100
Facsimile: {212) GO1-8645

THE LAW OFFICLES OF
RICTIARD ). VITA, P.C.

Richard J. Vita

77 Franklin Street, Suite 300

Boston, Massachusetts 02110

Telephone: (617) 42.6-6566

Facsimile: (617) 357-1612
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KAPLAN IFOX & KILSHEIMER LLP
Ruobert N. Kaplan (RE-3100)

Frederic 8. Fox (FF-2102)

845 Third Avenue, 22nd Floor

New York, New York 10022

 Telephone: (217) 6%7-1980

Facsimile: (212) 687-7714

Atmrneys for Plaintiff
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CERTIFICATION {f‘}"' PLAINTT]‘F
DURSUANT TO FEDERR EErrmiTIES LAWS

T, Victor Parker, Trusten :}I Jmep}' I‘—""‘F"" wiki Living Trust dated 11/26/97, make (his
declaration pursuant to Section 21D{a)2) of the Sceuritics Iixchange Acl.of 1934

1 | T have reviewed the complaint prepared by Pomerantz Haudek Block Grossman & Crross
LLP (the “Complaint”) against Mernll Lynch & Co., Tnc, and Henry Blodget on behall of
shareholders of GoTo com, Inc. {now known as Overture Services, Inc.) and authorize a filing of a
comparable complaint on my behatf,

2. T did not purchase the security that is the subject of the Complaint at the dircction of
counsel or inorder to participate tn any private zction anising under Title ) of the Securitics Exehanee
Act of 1934
3000 Fam willing to serve as a regresentalivg parly on beliall ol & cinss as sel forth in the
Comp'aint, including prontding testimony ot deposition and teial, it necessary.

4. Trefol'owing are all my transactions in the sceurity that is the subject of the complaing

during the Clazs Period (g delined in the Complaint):

Date Purghizse or Salg Nymhber T | Secyritic L’_i_’ic; of Securities
675001 purchase _ 1,400 $27 05
4/5/01 sale 1500 32800
6/6/0] purchase 1,500 : §25.29

5. During the three year period preceding the date on which (s certification is signed,
have not sought to serve, of servad, 2s a reprasentative party on behalf of a clzss under the federal

securities laws.

“&  lagree not to accept Any payment for serving as a representative party an behalf of the




class as set forth in the Complaing, beyond my pro rata share ofany recovery. except such reasonable
costs and expenses (inclading lost wayges) directly relating to the representation of the class as

ordered or approved by the Court. -

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is truc and currect.

Executed May rL 2002, &t B Fbmdpg. ,w;{

(City) {State)
{Signature)
LW SaTe il eert wpd 2
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